IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-99

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 90-CF-16062

CHADWICK WILLACY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd.

Suite 118 - 61 Estero, Florida 33928 (850) 322-2172 Fax (954) 564-5412

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summarily denial of Mr. Willacy's successive motion for postconviction

relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

The following abbreviations will be utilized to cite to the record in this cause, with appropriate volume and page number(s)

INTRODUCTION

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). There, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's *Strickland*² analysis which appeared in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the United States Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of *Strickland*. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's *Strickland* analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter v. McCollum* must be read.

Mr. Willacy's current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v. McCollum* and consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understanding and apply *Strickland*.

²Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the United States Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the United States Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding.³ In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the United States Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory.⁴

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

³The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

⁴The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

Mr. Willacy, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Willacy seeks to have his ineffectiveness claims reheard and re-evaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted.⁵ Mr. Willacy seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Willacy seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Willacy seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September, 1990, Mr. Willacy was indicted and charged with first degree murder and related offenses. Mr. Willacy pled not guilty. Mr. Willacy was tried in December of 1990. After he was convicted, he was sentenced to death. On appeal, this Court reversed Mr. Willacy's sentence of death and remanded. *Willacy v. State*, 640 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1994).

A new penalty phase was held before a jury in the fall of 1995. Ultimately, the re-sentencing jury recommended death. On November 20, 1995, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Willacy to death. On appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Willacy's death sentence. *Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1997), *cert. denied Willacy v. Florida*, 522 U.S. 970 (1997).

In May, 1998, Mr. Willacy filed a Rule 3.851 motion seeking to vacate his conviction and sentence of death. Thereafter, Mr. Willacy amended the Rule 3.851 motion in March, 2002. The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing in late 2003 and early 2004.

Mr. Willacy appealed. This Court affirmed the circuit court's order denying all relief. *Willacy v. State*, 967 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 2007). In addressing Mr. Willacy's guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim, this Court deferred to the circuit court's legal determination that trial counsel's strategy was reasonable. *Willacy v. State*, 967 So. 2d at 141 ("The postconviction trial court denied relief, finding that Erlenbach's evidence-elimination technique was a sound trial strategy under the circumstances of the case and that Willacy failed to show

⁵When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

prejudice. * * * The trial court's conclusion is supported by competent, substantial evidence."). In addressing Mr. Willacy's penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim, this Court also gave complete deference to the circuit court's ruling. As to the legal question of whether trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation and make a reasonable strategy decision to forego presentation of certain types of mitigating evidence, this Court said:

The postconviction trial court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. Kontos conducted a reasonable investigation into Willacy's mental condition and family history and made a reasonable strategic choice to forego presentation of negative mitigation evidence.

Willacy v. State, 967 So. 2d at 144. As to the prejudice arising from the failure to investigate and present evidence that Mr. Willacy was the victim of extreme child abuse, this Court deferred to the circuit court's rejection of the evidence of child abuse saying: "In addition, the postconviction trial court pointed out that, throughout the penalty phase in 1991 and the resentencing in 1995, Willacy and his family members, while under oath, repeatedly denied that Willacy was physically abused as a child." *Willacy v. State*, 967 so. 2d at 143-44. As to the prejudice arising from the failure to present substantive mental health mitigation, this Court said:

there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different if Kontos had chosen to focus on Willacy's abuse and mental health issues rather than on the positive aspects of Willacy's life. Accordingly, counsel was not ineffective for failing to present this evidence.

Id. at 144.

Simultaneously with his appeal from the denial of his Rule 3.851 motion, Mr. Willacy filed his initial petition for writ of habeas

corpus. This Court denied all relied. Id.

On April 22, 2008, Mr. Willacy filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida. That petition is currently pending.

In October, 2009, Mr. Willacy filed a successive petition for writ of habeas corpus with this Court. In an order, dated March 19, 2010, this Court denied all relief. *Willacy v. McNeil*, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC09-1859 (Fla. 2010).

On October 26, 2010, Mr. Willacy filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based upon Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009). On

November 16, 2010, the State responded. The circuit court held a case management conference on December 9, 2010. Thereafter, on

December 13, 2010, the circuit court denied Mr. Willacy's motion. Mr. Willacy timely filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The underlying facts of the crime in this case are set forth in two prior opinions of this Court. *See Willacy v. State*, 640 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1994); *Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1997). In *Willacy v. State*, 640 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1994), this Court affirmed the Mr. Willacy's conviction for first-degree murder, arson, burglary, but reversed his sentence of death based on the trial court's failure to allow the defense the opportunity to rehabilitate a death-scrupled venire person. A second penalty phase was conducted in 1995, and a sentence of death was again imposed. This Court affirmed. 696 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1997).

During Mr. Willacy's 1991 trial, he was represented by attorney Kurt Erlenbach. At the Rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing conducted in 2003-04, Mr. Erlenbach testified that prior to Mr. Willacy's trial he had never conducted a first-degree murder case either as a prosecutor or a defense attorney (PCR 634). He testified that his theory of defense in this case was to eliminate any evidence he could through motions and then attempt to explain away the other evidence (PCR 640). He characterized his defense as "try[ing] to shoot holes in the State's evidence" (PCR 652). Mr. Erlenbach admitted that he focused exclusively on eliminating evidence, and did not look for a plausible explanation for all the evidence or otherwise develop a defense (PCR 743).

Mr. Erlenbach recognized that Mr. Willacy's fingerprints on the gas can, fan and VCR rewinder were significant pieces of evidence for the State, as was his statement, the ATM photo, the victim's property and checkbook registry found in Mr. Willacy's home, the victim's blood-type found on his clothing, and a school boy's identification of Mr. Willacy. Specifically with regard to the ATM photo, Mr. Erlenbach explained that he believed that to be "a fairly incriminating piece of evidence, stronger than much of the other State evidence" (PCR 639).

Mr. Erlenbach did not recall telling Mr. Willacy that the State's case was strong or otherwise discussing the details of the case with him (PCR 637). He explained that it was his general practice to avoid discussing the actual details of a crime with clients. Rather he would review the discovery with the client and discuss ways to attack the evidence (PCR 704). As to Mr. Willacy's videotaped statement to police, Mr. Erlenbach viewed the statement as the State's most damaging piece of evidence because, "it was largely a confession of at least felony murder" (PCR 640). He recalled only discussing having the statement suppressed (PCR 645). Mr. Erlenbach did not recall discussing with Mr. Willacy the option of allowing the statement to be introduced, thus offering an explanation to evidence which, if the statement were suppressed, would remain unexplained.

In this regard, he acknowledged that the content of Mr. Willacy's statement supported an independent act defense (PCR 644). He also testified that Mr. Willacy's videotaped statement was consistent with the lefthanded murderer theory and that the confidential informant's statement would have strongly supported an independent act defense.

He did not pursue an independent act defense because he was focused solely on suppressing the evidence. He maintained that it was vital to keep the statement out of evidence, and as a consequence accepted that there would be unexplained pieces of evidence (PCR 651-652; 656). He did not recall offering an explanation for Mr. Willacy possessing the victim's property.

Mr. Erlenbach testified:

The problem came, it was difficult to rebut many of... those things and keep his statement out of evidence. It was a decision whether to keep the statement in, acknowledge he was involved and run the risk of felony murder.

As I said, I believe his statement was tantamount to a confession of felony murder, go that route or the route of trying to suppress as much evidence as possible and poke holes at the rest.

* * *

Well, no, I think that it's—when you suppress his confession you're in a bit of a box in how to avoid dealing with the consequences of that. So the alternative would have been arguing that he was there, he was involved. I think in his statement he said he saw Ms. Sather tied up, I think. I can't argue he's not responsible for that which, under the felony murder theory is a harder sell than HL or some unexplained possession of property.

(PCR 654).

Mr. Erlenbach testified that he did not take the confidential informant's deposition at any time prior to trial. He felt that the confidential informant was not as important a witness as Alonzo Love, because the confidential informant's statement was hearsay. But inconsistently, he conceded that the confidential informant's statement constituted an admission and therefore, was admissible as an admission under Fla. Stat. § 90.803(18). He conceded that he did not depose the confidential informant, but instead took Mr. Love's deposition (PCR 648-650).⁶

At one point during voir dire the trial court refused to let Mr. Erlenbach attempt to rehabilitate a juror. Mr. Erlenbach testified that he believed that the trial court erred and he was confident he was going to receive a new trial. In this regard he stated, "I sat down after that and maybe even said to Susan the rest of this is practice, that was reversible error there. It turned out that it was for the penalty phase but not the guilt phase" (PCR 665). He further testified it was difficult to say exactly how this affected his presentation of the defense. He stated, "I cannot say that it did not affect things" (PCR 667).

Mr. Erlenbach testified that he considered the information he uncovered regarding Juror Clark's pending felony charges to be significant. He testified that he did not know about Juror Clark's pending charges at the time Juror Clark sat as a juror on Mr. Willacy's case. He did not recall knowing in 1991 that the pendency of criminal prosecution was a statutory disqualification. However he stated that, had he learned of the juror's pending charges during voir dire, he would have moved to strike Juror Clark for cause or would have used a peremptory challenge to remove him from the jury panel. He further stated that had he known of section 40.013, Florida Statutes, he would have challenged Juror Clark's eligibility to serve as a juror (PCR 671-672).

⁶Because he did not seek to depose the confidential informant, counsel did not learn the identity of the confidential informant and the confidential informant did not testify at trial. Terry Sirois was hired by collateral counsel in 2003 to identify and locate the confidential informant. Based on her investigation, she testified that the confidential informant was an individual named Earl Chance who died in 1994 (PCR 1357-1367).

He indicated that he would never have wanted Juror Clark to serve on the jury (PCR 673). He described Mr. Clark, a middle -class businessman entering PTI, as probably "the worst possible defense juror" (PCR 732-733). As to why he would strike a juror with pending charges, Mr. Erlenbach testified:

Well, a juror who has pending charges is clearly in a position to be biased in favor of the State, particularly somebody in Mr. Clark's position.

If I remember correctly he was a businessman and it was a business dispute that led to the criminal charges and a person in his position clearly has more to lose than many other folks who are charged with crimes and somebody in his position who is angling to get into a diversion program, a person who has not ever been charged with a felony before, perhaps never even been charged with a crime before. Certainly somebody in his position is very clearly—I wouldn't say clearly but likely very easily

have a very strong bias for the State particularly in a case this serious. . . .

(PCR 692). He also stated:

If a juror, any juror had said I am being prosecuted now, I'm about to go into PTI—if I remember this testimony right he had not had time to sit on the jury, he had not received his letter saying that he was going into PTI. But had he said I'm being prosecuted by this State Attorney's Office that would have made a very significant difference and I would have moved to challenge for cause and stricken him peremptorily had the opportunity arisen.

(PCR 684).

Mr. Erlenbach testified that while preparing the initial brief in the appeal of this case to the Florida Supreme Court, he decided to

investigate the other jurors as a consequence of the *Neil*⁷ issue involving the State's having struck Juror Payne (PCR 676). With regard to Mr.

Payne, Mr. Erlenbach explained the State's position:

His argument was the jury questionnaire, the question is designed to elicit information on any prior charge against the defendant never made that known to us, he withheld that all along. He also offered in voir dire that he testified on behalf of the defendant on a drug charge.

* * *

[']State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

He failed to share any of this information with us during the course of voir dire and the questionnaire the Court handed out, he indicated that person should relate to us any sort of connection they may have had with the law and certainly if any charges had been filed against him.

(PCR 679). He testified that the State had urged that anyone with any involvement with law enforcement, particularly those with charges filed against them, should be telling the lawyers during voir dire (PCR 680).

Despite this backdrop, Mr. Erlenbach failed to ask the jury panel questions regarding whether anyone had pending charges or had ever had charges filed against them. Mr. Erlenbach indicated that this question, if answered honestly, would have prompted jurors to relay this type of information. He admitted that he did not ask Juror Clark if he had any pending charges. He therefore did not have any information regarding Juror Clark's pending felony charges and his referral to PTI at the time he was exercising challenges to the jury panel (PCR 673; 680-681; 684).

Lastly Mr. Erlenbach testified that he did not retain any experts in this case (PCR 618). Similarly he did not employ an investigator (PCR 637). He further testified that he never considered the benefits of employing a fingerprint expert (PCR 625). He agreed that experts can assist in developing cross-examination, suggesting areas that need further exploration and creating reasonable doubt (PCR 685).

Susan Erlenbach testified that her involvement in this case was limited to assisting Mr. Erlenbach in the jury selection process (PCR 753-754). According to Mrs. Erlenbach, Mr. Erlenbach questioned all the jurors during voir dire. She testified that had she learned of Juror Clark's status during voir dire, she would have strongly encouraged Mr. Erlenbach to strike him as a juror. She further stated that had she been the sole lawyer in this case, she would have undoubtedly moved to strike Juror Clark from the jury panel (PCR 757).

In this regard she testified that she absolutely would not have wanted a juror like Mr. Clark to sit as a juror on a criminal case. She stated:

Well, because regardless of what Mr. White's mind-set is Mr. Clark is going to know that Mr. White is the one making the decision in his case and that any point in time Mr. White can decide not to go through with a PTI contract. So Mr. Clark had to know that, he had to feel beholden to the State or least consider him baring himself in the State's eyes and particularly Mr. White's eyes.

(PCR 758).

After the conviction was returned and the death sentence imposed, this Court affirmed Mr. Willacy's conviction but reversed the sentence of death and remanded the case for a new penalty phase proceeding in 1994. Thereafter, Dan Ciener represented Mr. Willacy from mid-January 1995 until April 13, 1995 at which time James Kontos was retained by the Defendant (PCR 980-981). Mr. Kontos had previously worked for Mr. Ciener's law firm. In January 1995 Mr. Kontos opened his own law practice. Mr. Kontos testified that this was his first big case (PCR 999).

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