IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHADWICK WILLACY,	
Appellant,	
v.	Case No. SC11-99
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

Barbara C. Davis Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor Telephone: (386) 238-4990

Facsimile: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Here, as in *Marek*, the existence of a "newer" case applying *Strickland* does not equate with a change in the law which is retroactive.

Porter did not change the standard of review and this Court has not been misapplying Strickland's standard of review. Willacy's claim is legally insufficient and without merit.

Porter is limited to the facts in that case. In Porter v. McCollum, the state courts did not decide whether *Porter*'s counsel was deficient under *Strickland*. As a result, the United States Supreme Court assessed the first prong of Porter's IAC/penalty phase claim de novo. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452. The United States Supreme Court found that trial counsel failed to uncover and present any evidence of *Porter's* mental health or mental impairment, his family background, or his military service; and, "although Porter may have been fatalistic or uncooperative," that did not "obviate the need for defense counsel to conduct some sort of mitigation investigation." Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 453. The United States Supreme Court determined that trial counsel was deficient under the first prong of *Strickland* and emphasized that if *Porter*'s counsel had been effective, the judge and jury would have learned of "(1) Porter's heroic military service in two of the most critical-and horrific-battles of the Korean War, (2) his struggles to regain normality upon his return from war, (3) his childhood history of physical abuse, and (4) his brain abnormality, difficulty reading

and writing, and limited schooling." Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 454.

In addressing this Court's adjudication of the second – prejudice - prong of Strickland, the United States Supreme Court reiterated that the test for prejudice is whether "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. And, "[t]o assess that probability, [the Court] consider[s] the totality of the available mitigation evidence - both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding - and reweigh[s] it against the evidence in aggravation." *Porter*, 130 S.Ct. 447, 453-54 (quotation marks and brackets omitted). The United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's decision that *Porter* was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to conduct a thorough - or even cursory investigation was unreasonable because it "either did not consider or unreasonably discounted the mitigation evidence adduced in the postconviction hearing." Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 454-455. For example, the mental health evidence, which included Dr. Dee's testimony regarding the existence of a brain abnormality and cognitive defects, was not considered in this Court's discussion of nonstatutory mitigation. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 455, n. 7. In addition, the United States Supreme Court found that this Court unreasonably discounted evidence of *Porter*'s childhood abuse and combat military

service.6

The fundamental constitutional right at issue in *Porter* was the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel, a constitutional right that had been established decades before in *Strickland* v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, (1984). *Porter* was merely an application of the *Strickland* standard to a particular case.

Willacy's claim is procedurally barred. No exception to the time bar exists. Willacy merely reargues the facts adduced in the prior postconviction proceeding. Those issues were decided by this Court in 2007 and are procedurally barred. Willacy previously raised the same claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that he seeks to relitigate here. As this Court has held, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. *See Wright v. State*, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Willacy cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. *State v. McBride*, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). It is also well

_

⁶ In *Reed v. Secretary, Florida Dept. of Corrections*, 593 F. 3d 1217 (11th Cir. 2009), the Eleventh Circuit distinguished *Porter* on the basis of the "uniquely strong" mitigating nature of Porter's military service in combat. *Reed*, 593 F. 3d at 1249, n. 21 (noting "... Paragraph after paragraph in the *Porter* opinion concerns Porter's combat experience in Korea, recounted in great detail. *Id.* at 449-51, 455. The diagnosis in *Porter* was post-traumatic stress disorder from combat, not antisocial personality disorder. *Id.* at 450 n. 4, 455 & n. 9. Porter's military service was critical to the

established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. *Pope v. State*, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); *Lambrix v. State*, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Willacy is attempting to do here, his IAC/penalty phase claim is barred and was correctly denied. *See Topps v. State*, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

Reasonableness of strategic decisions. In an attempt to relitigate the deficiency prong of *Strickland*, Willacy argues that this Court's deference to the trial court's factual findings (which he labels "legal ruling") is error. (Initial Brief at 57). *Porter* did not address, much less change the appellate standard of review of factual findings. In fact, the United States Supreme Court never even mentioned the standard of review for factual findings in *Porter*. See *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 448-56. In *Strickland*, the United States Supreme Court stated that reviewing courts are required to give deference to factual findings made in resolving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and then review the rejection of the claim *de novo*. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 698. The United States Supreme Court addressed the extent to which the appellate or federal courts review the findings of the trial court and explained:

Although state court findings of fact made in the course of deciding an ineffectiveness claim are subject to the deference requirement of §

2254(d), and although district court findings are subject to the clearly erroneous standard of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a), both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698, 104 S.Ct. at 2070.

In this Court's decision in *Porter*, 788 So. 2d at 923, this Court cited *Stephens v*. *State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, n.2 (Fla. 1999) and stated that while the factual findings of the lower court should be given deference, the appellate court independently reviews mixed question of law and fact. This standard was repeated in *Willacy v*. *State*, 967 So.2d 131, 141 (Fla. 2007). The *Stephens* standard of review is expressly compelled by *Strickland*. This Court has not been misapplying *Strickland*'s standard of review. Giving deference to the lower court findings of fact and independently reviewing mixed questions of law and fact is consistent with *Strickland*. Since the standard utilized by this Court in *Porter* is the same standard the United States Supreme Court enunciated in *Strickland*, there is no change in law. Because there has been no change in law, Willacy failed to meet any exception under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B).

Willacy, nevertheless, suggests that because *Sochor v. State*, 883 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2004) cited to *Porter*, this Court's analysis in *Sochor* must have been flawed. (Initial Brief at 51). *Sochor* cited to *Porter* as a case which also involved conflicting expert opinions and in connection with its finding "that the circuit court's decision to

credit the testimony of the State's mental health experts over the testimony of Sochor's new experts is supported by competent, substantial evidence. *Sochor*, 883 So. 2d at 783, citing *Porter*. Again, this finding is in accordance with the mixed standard of review applied in *Strickland*.

In addition, this Court has refused to allow relitigation of previously denied *Strickland* claims under the guise of more recent caselaw. *See, Marek*, 8 So. 3d at 1128. In other words, this Court has previously determined that the alleged "changes in law" suggested by Willacy do not satisfy *Witt*.

As previously noted, the revised standard of appellate review approved in *Stephens*, for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel was held to not be retroactive under *Witt* in *Johnston v. Moore*, 789 So. 2d 262, 267 (Fla. 2001). The courts of this state have extensively relied upon the *Stephens* standard of review and continue to do so today. *See Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828, 834 (Fla. 2011) (stating, "[b]ecause ineffective assistance of counsel claims present mixed questions of fact and law, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent substantial evidence, but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions de novo. *See Sochor v. State*, 883 So.2d 766, 771–72 (Fla. 2004) (*citing Stephens v. State*, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999))." Thus, if *Porter*, as construed by Willacy, is deemed a retroactive "change" in the law, the effect on the

administration of justice would be overwhelming.

Willacy's reliance on *Sears v. Upton*, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010) also is misplaced. In *Sears*, the Georgia post-conviction court found trial counsel's performance deficient under *Strickland*, but then stated that it was unable to assess whether counsel's inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Sears. *Id.* at 3261. In *Sears*, the United States Supreme Court did not find that it was improper for a trial court to make factual findings in ruling on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or for a reviewing court to defer to those findings. Instead, the Supreme Court reversed because it did not believe that the lower courts had made findings about the evidence presented. *Id.* at 3261. *Sears* does not support the assertion that the making of findings or giving deference in reviewing findings is inappropriate.

Willacy is not entitled to relief. Even if *Porter* arguably changed the law and the alleged change was retroactive and the claim was not procedurally barred, which the State emphatically disputes, Willacy still would not be entitled to any relief. As this Court recognized in *Witt*, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 930-31. As the United States Supreme Court recognized in *Strickland*, there is no reason to address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to show that his counsel was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

Willacy's IAC/penalty phase claim – based on the alleged failure to investigate mitigation - was denied based on a lack of deficiency. Willacy generally argues that the circuit court's and this Court's analysis in the prior postconviction proceeding was flawed. Willacy re-argues the evidence presented in the first postconviction motion (Initial Brief at 62-72) and states that counsel was "clearly deficient." (Initial Brief at 72). He specifically argues only two issues: (1) inadequate *voir dire* on juror Clark; and (2) failure to investigate and present mitigation. (Brief at 58-73).

The juror Clark issue was not raised in the successive postconviction motion (V1, R108-133). The only claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was regarding the penalty phase. (V1, R110, 121-131). The juror Clark issue and any other issue Willacy may attempt to argue that was not properly raised in the lower court cannot be argued on appeal. *See Henyard v. State*, 992 So.2d 120, 126, n2 (Fla. 2008) (claim not raised below not properly raised for review by this Court); *Perez v. State*, 919 So.2d 347, 359 (Fla.2005) (to preserve for appeal, issue "must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation"). Likewise, any issue generally alleged which is not specifically briefed on appeal is waived. *See Cooper v. State*, 856 So. 2d 969, 977 n. 7 (Fla. 2003) ("Cooper ... contend[s], without specific reference or supportive argument, that the 'lower court erred in its summary denial of these claims.' We find speculative,

unsupported argument of this type to be improper, and deny relief based thereon."); *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues.").

<u>Juror Clark.</u> Even if Willacy had raised the juror Clark issue in the lower court, the issue has no merit, counsel was neither deficient nor was there prejudice, and argument on this issue is patently frivolous. In the prior postconviction proceedings this Court held discussed the juror Clark issue:

Next, the record conclusively refutes Willacy's claim that the trial court improperly denied an evidentiary hearing on claim 6, that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to juror Clark's ineligibility to serve. As we have previously held, counsel is not ineffective for failing to make a futile objection. *See Maxwell v. Wainwright*, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). Here, the trial court had already conducted an evidentiary hearing with regard to the juror Clark issue when it was deciding Willacy's motion for a new trial. Judge Yawn found that the Erlenbachs were informed of Clark's status at some point during the trial, but failed to object. Therefore, Judge Yawn determined that Willacy waived objection on this matter. On direct appeal, the parties thoroughly explained to this Court the sequence of events leading up to Clark's entry into the pretrial intervention (PTI) program and his service on Willacy's jury. **We held on the merits that Clark was eligible to serve.** Thus, even if the

In his final voir dire challenge, Willacy claims that Clark was under prosecution when selected as a juror and seating him violated section 40.013(1), Florida Statutes (1991).FN7 We disagree. Willacy mistakenly equates Clark's placement in the Pretrial Intervention Program with

⁷ The complete findings of this Court on direct appeal regarding the Juror Clark issue are:

Erlenbachs had sought to have Clark disqualified, their objection ultimately would have failed. Therefore, because this claim is conclusively refuted by the record, we affirm the trial court's denial of an evidentiary hearing.

.

B. Ineffective Assistance of Trial CounselFN9

FN9. In addition to the ineffectiveness claims discussed below, Willacy argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to inquire into juror Clark's status during voir dire and that this Court's holding in Lowrey v. State, 705 So. 2d 1367 (Fla. 1998), should be applied retroactively to this case. As stated above, because this Court determined on direct appeal that Clark was not under prosecution during Willacy's trial, these claims have no merit, are procedurally barred, and require no further discussion.

Willacy v. State, 967 So. 2d 131, 140 (Fla. 2007). Willacy fails to explain how the *Porter* prejudice analysis applies to this claim where this Court held that the issue had no merit and counsel was not deficient.

<u>Ineffective assistance of counsel – mitigation.</u> Regarding the mitigation ineffectiveness claim, this Court held in the prior postconviction proceeding:

prosecution. Pretrial intervention is "merely an alternative to prosecution." *Cleveland v. State*, 417 So. 2d 653, 654 (Fla. 1982). **Since Clark was not under prosecution, Willacy's motion for a new trial was properly denied.** Moreover, during the trial the State informed Willacy's counsel of Clark's status and his counsel voiced no objection. By failing to make a timely objection, Willacy waived the claim he now seeks to assert. We affirm the trial court's decision.

FN7. "No person who is under prosecution for any crime ... shall be qualified to serve as a juror." § 40.013(1), Fla.Stat. (1991).

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